

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Prokic-Breuer, Tijana

Working Paper The relative importance of social and cultural capital for educational performance: Eastern versus Western Europe

WZB Discussion Paper, No. SP I 2011-403

Provided in Cooperation with: WZB Berlin Social Science Center

Suggested Citation: Prokic-Breuer, Tijana (2011) : The relative importance of social and cultural capital for educational performance: Eastern versus Western Europe, WZB Discussion Paper, No. SP I 2011-403, Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin für Sozialforschung (WZB), Berlin

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/57646

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU



Tijana Prokic-Breuer*

The Relative Importance of Social and Cultural Capital for Educational Performance: Eastern versus Western Europe

* European University Institute, Italy Tijana.Prokic@EUI.eu

May 2011

Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin für Sozialforschung (WZB) Social Science Research Center Berlin

Research Area: Education, Work, and Life Chances Research Professorship: Demographic Development, Social Change, and Social Capital http://www.wzb.eu/bal/dws/ e-mail:saraceno@wzb.eu

Order no.: SP I 2011-403

discussion

Work for this paper was done during my stay as a guest researcher at the Social Science Research Center Berlin (WZB) in the research unit "Demographic Development, Social Change, and Social Capital" headed by Professor Chiara Saraceno.

Table of Contents

1 Introduction
2 The effects of social and cultural capital on educational performance
2.1 Cultural capital and its relevance for education4
2.2 Different effects in the East and the West
2.3 The role of strong ties and `the collective'6
2.4 Cultural capital as a determinant of social stratification9
3 Data and regression techniques
3.1 The construction of dependent variables12
3.2 Operationalization of social and cultural capital13
3.3 Other background variables15
3.4 Imputation
4 Regression model: Micro-educational production function with a focus on
social and cultural capital16
5 Results of the empirical analysis
5.1 The effects of social capital at the family level18
5.2 The effects of social capital at the school level
5.3 The effects of cultural capital25
5.4 Effects of other background variables27
6 Conclusion
Bibliography
Appendix

1 Introduction

The sociology of education has a long-standing tradition of researching the causes of educational inequality. As the massive body of literature suggests, it is above all ability - the differences in intelligence and personality - that explains variations in performance (Dronkers, 2010). Family background comes in second when examining factors that influence educational performance. A child's family background consists of a variety of aspects, including parents' educational level and the family's cultural endowments (Dronkers, 2010). All of the aspects portray the total environment that the child comes from, which includes financial, occupational, social and cultural endowments. Research has documented that in Western countries, these endowments, along with biological predisposition, considerably determine the level of educational achievement (Blau and Dunkan, 1967; Jencks, 1972, Bourdieu and Passeron, 1977; Hauser and Sewell; 1986, Dronkers, 2010).

This article focuses on the effects of the less tangible assets, namely social and cultural capital, on educational outcomes of children in different societies. To this end, two different societies are analyzed. The reference group is made up of children from Western Europe, which is characterized by capitalist societies with free market economies. The second group consists of children from Eastern Europe that primarily grew up under communism and/or its immediate aftermath.

This paper contributes to existing knowledge by focusing on the *differences* in the way social and cultural capital are related to educational performance, rather than explaining the inequality of educational achievement. Theoretical grounds for arguing that these differences exist on a societal level are based on James Coleman's (1990) notion that the overall social structure has an influence on the way individuals act on it; for example, in the way they invest and allocate their productive recourses. The empirical justification is based on findings in earlier literature that there was indeed considerable difference regarding the accumulation of social and cultural capital in Eastern and Western Europe during communism. In addition, the literature demonstrated differences in the use of social and cultural capital for obtaining different goals (De Graaf and Flap, 1988; Volker and Flap, 1997, 1999; Ganzeboom, 1998).

In order to examine how Eastern and Western Europe differ regarding the effects of social and cultural capital on educational performance, two data sets are used that measure cognitive performance of children in 20 European countries. The first study under consideration is the Trends in International Mathematics and Science Study (TIMSS) conducted in 1995¹, and the second is the Program for International Students Assessment (PISA) study conducted in 2000. The approach to social capital follows that of Coleman (1988), where social capital at the family and school levels is considered a factor that positively relates to children's educational performance.

In this paper, the structural aspects of social capital are examined, meaning that social capital resides in the social relationships formed by strong or weak ties. Cultural capital, on the other hand, is defined as in the theoretical work of Bourdieu (1984) and the empirical work of DiMaggio (1982 and 1985), where the two forms of cultural capital, objectified and embodied, are positively related to educational outcomes. The estimated model is an adapted version of the educational production function, through which a statistical relationship between cognitive performance, measured by the outcomes of the PISA and TIMSS studies, and family background, is examined.

The article proceeds as follows: In the next section, I discuss the literature that deals with the role of social and cultural capital for educational achievement. I then turn to a description of the differences between Eastern and Western Europe regarding the ways that social and cultural capital are accumulated and allocated. From this I derive the main hypotheses of the article. In subsequent sections I describe my data and the methods used, before moving on to the results and my conclusion.

2 The effects of social and cultural capital on educational performance

Social capital is a concept that has been inductively developed through observation, which in addition to financial and intellectual capital, has shown that the embedding of children in social structure facilitates the culture of learning. Even though the concept originated in the 1920s, Pierre Bourdieu and James Coleman first applied it in the field of education during the 1980s. Whereas Bourdieu (1988) examined the relevance of economic, social and cultural capital for social reproduction, Coleman (1988, 1990) focused on the role of social capital in the development of human capital. Given that I base the theoretical approach of this article on Coleman's work, I shall discuss only his theory and summarize the literature on its empirical application.

¹ This is the year closest to the end of the communist regime. Given that these children were born during communism and were raised by parents who lived under the same regime for the majority of their lives, I assume that this cohort presents the most representative sample for the situation during communism.

Coleman's (1988, 1990) approach to benefits of social capital has structural-functionalist roots. Three forms characterize his interpretation of social capital: levels of trust, information channels and norms and sanctions that promote selfless behaviour. From this point of view, social capital is inherent to social structure. In this context, Coleman emphasizes the importance of social networks, in particular the role of family structure, as it is the social structure that facilitates development of norms and values.

In his empirical studies, Coleman (1988, 1990) examined the relationship between social capital in and outside family and educational achievement of children in these families. At the family level, his operationalization of the concept of social capital resulted in variables of social capital, including the i) presence of parents and number of siblings in the home, ii) parents' educational expectations; and iii) intergenerational closure. Regarding the social capital at the school level, Coleman has examined relationships among parents, and parents' relationship with school and community. Coleman's work has had enormous influence on subsequent studies; indeed, all mainstream educational research has adopted his conceptualization of social capital in one way or another.

Social capital is assumed to have positive effects on a number of educational outcomes, such as educational achievement (measured by student test scores in various disciplines) and attainment (measured by probabilities of dropping out of school). When it comes to the link between social capital and educational achievement, the most notable studies typically use student test scores on math, reading or science to examine their relationship to social capital. Achievement is found to be influenced by various aspects of social capital are: family form; family size; number of times the family has moved; social connection between parents and children (McNeal, 199; Pong, 1998; Sun, 1998); parent-school involvement (Carbonaro; Pong; Morgan and Sorensen, 1999); and intergenerational closure (Carbonaro; Morgan and Sorensen; Pribesh and Downey; Sun, 1998, 1999). Indicators of social capital outside the family are also found to be of vital importance for educational achievement and include aspects like participation in organizations in school and community (Sun, 1998); number of friends at school (Morgan and Sorensen, 1999); and ties with peers (Pribesh and Downey, 1999).

The link between educational attainment and social capital is predominantly studied using school drop-out rates, which are found to be positively associated to variables that are used to describe social capital in the studies of educational achievement. A positive association with regard to drop-out rates is also found with non-traditional family structure and the number of siblings (Israel et al. 2001; Smith et al, 1992); whereas things like higher parental expectations, parent-teen connection, fewer moves, church attendance and intergenerational closure are found to be negatively related to drop-out rates (Dika and Singh, 2002). Another line of research (De Graaf et al. 2000; Dyk and Wilson, 1999, Kalmijn and Kraaykamp, 1996; Lopez, 1996) examined the year of schooling as the proxy for educational attainment, and found results similar to those of drop-out rates or proxies for educational achievement.

2.1 Cultural capital and its relevance for education

Around the same time that the concept of social capital appeared on the research scene, the concept of cultural capital emerged on the agendas of those studying educational inequality. Although much of the work of its founder, Pierre Bourdieu, centered on social capital, it is Bourdieu's work on cultural capital that has set the theoretical platform on which many empirical studies have been conducted, especially with regard to the role of cultural capital in education.

Bourdieu (1986) studied cultural capital within this context because of the fact that in Western societies, education is one of the mechanisms behind social reproduction; consequently, studies on social reproduction often assess the role of cultural capital for educational achievement. In light of Bourdieu (1986) and other researchers who have examined this topic, cultural capital is a resource because it provides access to scarce resources and can be transmitted from one generation to another (Lareau and Weininger, 2003). For Bourdieu, cultural capital provides instruments for the appropriation of symbolic wealth socially designated as worthy of being sought and possessed. Cultural capital is inculcated in childhood and is recognized by those who also possess the same cultural capital; therefore, cultural capital exercises returns in terms educational attainment and achievement. It enables people of a higher social status to obtain better education for their children and at the same time allows these children to be treated differently because of their social origin². More specifically, for Bourdieu (1986) cultural capital exists in three states: embodied, objectified and institutionalized. The embodied form of cultural capital is a `long lasting disposition of mind and body' (Bourdieu, 1986, p.47). In its objectified state it takes the form of cultural goods (such as pictures, books, dictionaries, and so on) and in

² According to Lamont and Lareau (1988), the direct effect of cultural capital in educational outcomes consists of widely shared high-status cultural signals (e.g. behaviours, tastes, and attitudes) used in the process of social reproduction through education (See also, Farkas 1996; Lareau and Horvat 1999; Swidler 1986). This can be seen when teachers positively sanction students who possess dominant linguistic styles, aesthetic preferences and modes of interaction. How such positive sanctioning is exercised depends largely on the characteristics of the particular educational system; for example, the relevance of cultural capital is reduced in a system where educational transitions are based on standardized examinations rather than the subjective judgment of teachers.

its institutionalized state is characterized by educational qualifications. Its institutionalized state approximates what is referred to as human capital in the later literature. In fact, Bourdieu (1986) argues that human capital is a part of cultural capital because of the processes in which human capital is accumulated. He argues that the socially most determining educational investment is the domestic transmission of cultural capital. Bourdieu (1986) goes on to claim that academic ability and talent are products of investment of time in cultural capital, whereas the economic and social yield of educational qualification depends on social capital³.

Bourdieu's theory has been empirically examined in many of the studies pioneered by DiMaggio (1982). His application of the concept in the field of education has lead him to many definitions of cultural capital such as: 'Instruments for appropriation of symbolic wealth, designated as worthy of being sought and possessed' (DiMaggio, 1982); 'Linguistic and cultural competence' (Robinson and Garnier, 1985); 'Appropriate manner and good tastes, values of formal culture and beaux arts' (De Graaf, 1986); 'Cultural assets, in general, a control over cultural resources and disposal over cultural resources' (Ganzeboom, De Graaf and Robert, 1990). In essence, all of these definitions have been inspired in one way or another by Bourdieu's (1986) work and represent either embodied or objectified cultural capital, defined in a more concrete manner. These definitions have been proxied by all sorts of variables that are believed to measure cultural capital, such as cultural attitudes (interests in music, literature and self image), activities (creation of art, attendance of cultural events), cultural knowledge (about literature, music, art) (DiMaggio, 1982, DiMaggio and Mohr, 1985, Ganzeboom, De Graaf and Robert, 1990). or parents' interest in culture (De Graaf, 1995, Kalmijn and Kraaykamp, 1996).

The previous empirical literature on the relationship between cultural capital and educational success has established a positive relationship between the two. DiMaggio (1982) showed that cultural participation among high school students in the US is positively associated with school grades in English, History and Mathematics; whereas the study of DiMaggio and Mohr (1985) demonstrated a positive relationship between cultural participation and educational attainment, college attendance and college graduation. As for the relationship between parents' cultural participation and children's educational attainment, De Graaf and Kraaykamp (1996) have found

³ I would argue that two developments in empirical research on human capital give us reason to believe that human capital is a separate entity and not a form of cultural capital. First, the new definitions of human capital, focusing on abilities, skills and competencies, have shown the relevance of skills and ability as an integral part of human capital, which is not developed by any process of socialization or transmission of cultural capital, but rather embodied in persons. Second, the economic yield of education and therefore the value of human capital is not only realized by using social capital. Even if social capital can assist in this process, it is much more the ability signaled by educational achievement that determines future returns on human capital. For this reason, I argue that Bourdieu's cultural capital takes only two forms: embodied, as a consequence of cultural milieu, and objectified, as possessions indicating the endowments of cultural capital.

that in the Netherlands, parental cultural behaviour had greater impact on children's years of education than parents' financial resources. Similar results were found in Germany by De Graaf and Crook (1997), where parents' participation in cultural activities was positively related to their children's educational attainment.

2.2 Different effects in the East and the West

The main proposition in this article is that the effects of social and cultural capital on the educational outcomes can be different across societies due to the fact that the overall functioning of the society cannot be disentangled from the attitudes and behaviour of its citizens (Coleman, 1988, 1990). In particular, when it comes to economic behaviour we can argue that society can influence the investment in different resources and consequently their returns. This implies that we expect to see different relationships between social and cultural capital and educational performance across diverging societies.

In order to test this proposition, I examine the differences regarding the effects of social and cultural capital between students in Eastern and Western Europe. As the testing of educational performance of these pupils started in 1995, in the case or TIMMS and 2000 in the case of PISA, and the students under consideration were either 13 or 15-year-olds, I assume here that they grew up in vastly different societies than those of their Western counterparts and therefore their early upbringing was very much influenced by the legacies of communism. Consequently, we can pose a very important question: What differentiates these societies when it comes to returns of social and cultural capital in the context of education? In order to answer this question, the next section discusses previous studies on the role of social and cultural capital in the context of education in communist societies. From this, key hypotheses are derived regarding their different associations to levels of educational achievement in Eastern relative to Western societies.

2.3 The role of strong ties and `the collective'

Previous literature has emphasized the importance of social capital as a productive resource in Eastern Europe during communism. Due to restrictions on the accumulation of material wealth, people had to invest more in development of formal and informal social networks that could be mobilized in different situations (De Graaf and Flap, 1988; Volker and Flap, 1997, 1999; Ganzeboom, 1998; Wong, 1998). In this context, Delhey and Newton (2004, p.7) note that `personal social networks were particularly important in communist systems of Eastern and

Central Europe. People in these countries developed circles of private and unofficial contacts among people who could help each solve the daily problems¹⁴.

As a consequence, most of the literature on the relationship between social capital and educational attainment during communism studies the use of social ties for the creation of educational opportunities. A less elaborated subject in the previous studies is the role of social capital in the form of social ties within the family, and social capital at school for educational achievement during communism. However, the literature has shown us that it is these forms of social capital that are traditionally studied in Western societies as important determinants of educational achievement. As Coleman argued, it is the social structure at the family and school level that facilitates the culture of learning by transmitting and maintaining the norms and values held about learning. Additionally, this social structure serves both as the information channel through which parents transmit human capital to their children as well as a way to monitor their children's performance.

Therefore, within this context it is especially important to examine the potential differences regarding social capital on the family and school levels between communist and capitalist societies. As we have seen, one of the consequences of oppressive communist regimes was a general reliance on strong social ties within the family. Given that the public sphere was dominated by the regime, a general feeling of distrust in society prevailed; and as a consequence, family and close friends were of great importance for improving life chances in every possible way, since these close relations were the only ones that could be trusted.

Investment in strong family ties was not just an unintended consequence of the regime's policies; interestingly, it was also stimulated by the regime in the later stages of communism, with the idea that family was one of the primary institutions of political socialization. The role of the family in transmitting political values made communists initially believe that placing the upbringing of children squarely in the hands of the state was the best way to accomplish political indoctrination of the new regime. In the long term, however, the experimental policies set forth to achieve this goal proved inefficient and costly (Clawson, 1973). Communists also concluded that putting so much effort into the indoctrination of such young children did not produce adequate results. Finally, as communism progressed there was less fear of the influence of the older generation. As a consequence, the negative attitude toward the role of family in the political socialization processes turned into a positive and the prevailing thought became that

⁴ People in Western societies also use strong ties, but in Eastern Europe the general reliance on those was stronger during communism given that there were restrictions on accumulation, but also use, of material wealth (Wong, 1996)

family should play a dominant role in transmitting communist ideology to children. In this context it was the family's task to create a proper foundation upon which later socialization experiences could be built. It was thought that this could only be achieved through the stimulation of obedience to adults and authority in general. In order for this to occur, the development of strong ties between parents and children was absolutely necessary⁵.

By taking all of these aspects of family social structure into account and following Coleman's theory, we can argue that in Eastern Europe, ties between parents and children were extremely important as resource on which to draw given the lack of other means to improve life chances⁶. If this is also true in the context of education, then one would expect to see a higher association between family relationships and educational achievement characterized by strong ties in the communist societies relative to Western ones (Hypothesis 1).

In addition to the importance of social capital in the family, Coleman also emphasized the relevance of the family's social environment; and in particular its embeddings in the community. One of communism's primary aims was in fact to create a society where collective interests took complete precedence over individual interests. As a result, the importance of community was emphasized. Indeed, `the norms of collectivism' dictated the lives of Eastern European citizens, who were forced to work in brigades and collectives and had to join organizations where they spent their free time. Neighbourhoods were even designed in a way to ensure the intermingling of social origins (Volker and Flap, 2001). Although all of these policies officially had only one goal, the creation of social integration, unofficially they were used to control social aspects of people's lives. In fact, we have seen that one of the consequences of these policies was a solid reliance on strong ties.

Nevertheless, there was a certain need to be part of the collective, as there were not many alternatives. School, being one of the main institutions of political socialization, naturally promoted collective values. In addition, school was seen as an institution complementary to that of the family in `raising' socialist citizens. Although the regime abolished the Marxist idea that early child-rearing should be placed entirely in the hands of the state, it never relinquished the idea completely.

⁵ It should be noted in this context that one of the premises of the Marxist ideology is that women should have political and social equality and that child care and education should become a public task (Clawson, 1993). This is in contrast to traditional Western view, where the father is the breadwinner of the family and the mother stays to take care of the child rearing. As a consequence, women were encouraged to participate in the labour market to the same extent as men. Therefore full-time employment of mothers was a much more common phenomenon in the communist countries than in the Western ones.

⁶ Such as wealth in the Western countries.

As the state could never completely control what was going on in the private family sphere, the regime recognized that most political indoctrination would have to take place at the school level. Thus it was extremely important for parents to be participating members of the school community. Consequently, parents and children who decided *not* to participate and not develop good social relationships at school experienced significantly more negative consequences than their Western counterparts, given that the alternative to participation was social exclusion. Whereas being a member of the school community in Western societies meant sharing norms and values that encouraged learning, in Eastern Europe it also meant sharing (or purporting to share) the same general ideology⁷. Following this line of argumentation, I hypothesize that social capital at the school level has a stronger association with educational achievement in communist countries relative to Western societies (Hypothesis 2).

2.4 Cultural capital as a determinant of social stratification

The importance of cultural capital for educational performance can best be studied in its role of counterbalancing the effects of egalitarian policies. As previously mentioned, one of the main aims of communist de-stratification policies was to eliminate the traditional link between social background, which was made up of social and cultural capital, and educational achievement. Communist policy-makers primarily recognized that the family was one of the basic instruments of social stratification; as a result, educational polices were targeted at increasing educational opportunities for children from lower socio-economic backgrounds while decreasing the opportunities for those from already elevated social positions. The discrimination levelled at bourgeoisie children took the form of limiting their admission to secondary and tertiary education, while those from farming families were favoured for admission (Ganzeboom and Nieuwbeerta, 1994). From this, we can glean that the primary differences between Eastern and Western societies during communism were reflected in educational policies aimed at reducing the privileges of the higher social strata and increasing the access to education for children from working class families.

However, a relevant question remains about the effectiveness of these policies in reaching their goal of reallocating educational opportunities across social classes⁸. Prior research (Ganzeboom

⁷ One could also argue in the tradition of Coleman that schools are embedded in communities in Western countries as well; however, these communities are generally not marked by one religion or ideology. Therefore there are alternatives. In communist countries the situation was more polarized: people were either `in' or `out'.

⁸ They were also aimed at assuring equality between men and women, as well across regions (urban versus rural) (Mateju, 1993). However, this I will leave out of the scope of my analysis.

and Nieuwbeerta, 1994, Kraaykamp and Nieuwbeerta, 2000, Peschar, 1990, 1993) has shown that in spite of administrative and bureaucratic measures, children's socio-economic background continued to play a dominant role in their educational outcomes; hence social reproduction through education continued under communism.

In order to explain this phenomenon, we look to *the theory of counter selection* put forward by Mateju (1986, 1993). The theory of counter selection essentially explains the association between social origin and educational outcomes in former communist countries by two different counter balancing processes. The first process in question is the one outlined above: the enacting of a series of practices aimed at limiting access to education for children from bourgeois families, and expanding access for those from working class families. In this context, Mateju notes: `These measures blocked the educational careers of children from higher social strata and were designed primarily to replace free competition in which aspirations, ability, and educational performance at previous levels were probably the most important factor of success' (Mateju, 1993, p. 257).

As a consequence of these measures, the theory of counter selection predicts an initial decline in the effects of social background on educational outcomes. According to this line of reasoning, we can assume that families with higher social status were also the ones that had more cultural capital, therefore the following hypothesis can be inferred about the relationship between cultural capital and educational performance during communism: *The association between cultural capital and educational performance will be weaker in communist societies than in the non-socialist Western countries (Hypothesis 3).*

However, according to the second pillar of the theory of counter selection, the other process is the emergence of a new class of cadre administrators. Contrary to many beliefs' and somewhat paradoxically given the egalitarian ideology, the new elite possessed a significant amount of cultural capital. As the existing research suggests, in addition to cultural codes and competencies, educational credentials were highly valued among the new elites; indeed, the possession of such credentials was found to be one of the requirements for promotion within the political party. Additionally, studies have shown that university graduates were largely overrepresented in the party, particularly among high-ranking officials (Szelenyi, 1987).

Mateju (1993) posits that the emergence of a new elite counterbalances the initial decrease of importance of social origin, as it actually increases its importance. Mateju argued primarily that as the new elite, communist cadres were able to use their bureaucratic authority and social

connections to assure the prestigious educational attainment of their children at institutions of higher education, regardless of their children's qualifications. As a result, educational attainment became strongly dependent on the political and social capital⁹, held by the family of origin, which strongly undermined any meritocratic competition. Furthermore, as the communist party consisted of a new, highly educated elite, its members were also more likely to pass these skills and dispositions on to their children, not only enhancing their access to education, but their educational performance as well. This particular form of cultural capital possessed by children was highly valued by their teachers in the strong intelligentsia tradition in Eastern European societies (Wong, 1999). In sum the cultural capital of the family continued to play the same role for educational attainment and achievement as in the Western societies. *Based on this, the last hypotheses of this paper is that cultural capital had as equal effect on educational achievement in Eastern Europe as in the Western European countries during communism (Hypothesis 4)*. This hypothesis in fact contradicts the third hypothesis, as it proposes that communist regime was unsuccessful in creating opportunities for the deprived groups.

3 Data and regression techniques

In order to test the above stated hypotheses, I will use data from the Program for International Student Assessment (PISA) and the Trends in International Mathematics and Science Study (TIMSS). PISA sampled students aged between 15 years and 3 months as the lower bound and 16 years and 2 months as the upper bound at the beginning of the assessment period. The TIMSS target population was 13-year-old students, attending the seventh or eighth grade, depending on each country.

By examining the results of the PISA survey, represented by students' test scores, we can assess how well they are prepared for so-called `real life'; the objective is to test the application of knowledge rather than its accumulation. The age of 15 is considered a good testing point as it signals the end of compulsory schooling in the countries under consideration and assumes that young people have had enough learning experiences both in and outside of school. TIMSS uses the curriculum - defined broadly - as its major organizing concept and is based on a model of curriculum with three components: 1) the intended curriculum; 2) the implemented curriculum; and 3) the achieved curriculum. Although TIMSS and PISA look at educational achievement

⁹ The implicit assumption here is that individuals who were endowed with cultural capital were also the ones who belonged to elite and therefore has social connections. So we can posit that the possession of social capital is conditional on possession of cultural capital in this context.

from different perspectives, for the purposes of this article it is assumed that this has no influence on the relationships I assess in the empirical portion.

Both PISA and TIMSS provide not only tested scores on mathematics, but a significant amount of background information about the students that took the test as well. This information makes PISA and TIMSS unique in that they not only assess the role of schooling in educational outcomes of students, but also learning opportunities in families, communities or even societies they make up (Gronmo and Olsen, 2004).

The PISA survey has currently been conducted in three different waves: first in 2000, then again in 2003 and 2006. The TIMSS study has also been conducted in three waves: 1995, 1999 and again in 2003. Here I will utilize data from the TIMSS 1995¹⁰ and PISA 2000¹¹ surveys, in order to test the above-proposed hypotheses. I chose these particular years, as they are closest to the fall of communism; therefore, the effects can be considered the most similar to those found during communism.

Tables of the Appendix to this chapter give an overview of the variables employed in this paper from both the TIMSS and PISA studies, and present their international descriptive statistics and correlation matrices. In order to have a complete data set of all students with performance data and some background data, random missing values are imputed for individuals using the averages of these variables.

3.1 The construction of dependent variables

In order to test the main hypotheses advanced in this paper, I use the student performance scores in mathematics as a measurement of educational performance¹². In the case of PISA, mathematical literacy is defined as `an individual's capacity to identify and understand the role that mathematics plays in the world, to make well-founded judgments and to use and engage with mathematics in ways that meet the needs of that individual's life as a constructive, concerned and reflective citizen' (OECD, 2003). In the case of TIMSS, the definition is `a measurement of student achievement in mathematics and science whose content reflects an

¹⁰ Where the countries under consideration are Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, The Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Sweden, Spain and United Kingdom.

¹¹ Where the countries under consideration are Austria, Czech Republic, Denmark, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, The Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Sweden, Spain and United Kingdom.

¹² Reading literacy is only available for the PISA studies and therefore it is left out of the scope of this paper.

international consensus of important mathematical and scientific concepts that students should have learned' (IEA, 2000).

Combining the performance in different aspects of mathematics, the plausible values¹³ represent the proficiency mapped onto an international scale with a mean of 500 and a standard deviation of 100, yielding the international achievement scores. This implies that the plausible values are to be interpreted as relative to the mean of all the countries under consideration, in the case of TIMSS, and as relative to the OCED average; in PISA's case, rather than to the absolute values of individuals.

3.2 Operationalization of social and cultural capital

The explanatory variables are derived from the PISA and TIMSS background questionnaires on the characteristics of students, teachers and schools. The information obtained from these questionnaires is used for the construction of variables for social and cultural capital. Following the work of Coleman, the social capital variables can be categorized in two groups. The first one consists of the social capital variables at the family level, while the second one presents the social capital variables at the school level. The following variables portray various aspects of social capital within the family: family form, social communication within the family, working time of parents. Social capital outside of family is proxied by those variables that portray social life (time spent with friends, and club participation) of pupils on one hand; and on the other by variables for social capital at the school level that describe relations i) among pupils; ii) between pupils; and iii) between parents and teachers (cooperative learning, parents' communication with school, student relations). This section describes each of the variables in more detail.

Family form is derived from the question of who actually lives with the student at home. Based on the outcomes of previous studies (Astone, McLanahan 1991; McLanahan, Sandefur 1994; Teachman, Paasch and Carver, 1997; Sandefur, Wells 1999), it is assumed that children from single-parent families will receive less attention from their parents as they tend to have less time to spend with them. According to Coleman, this results in a deficiency in creation and maintenance of social capital in the family because these children will have weaker ties with their parents. There are two dummy variables constructed from this question. The control

¹³ Where `plausible values are imputed as values that resemble individual test scores and have approximately the same distribution as the latent trait being measured. Plausible values were developed as a computational approximation to obtain consistent estimates of population characteristics in assessment situations where individuals are administered too few items to allow precise estimates of their ability. Plausible values represent random draws from an empirically derived distribution of proficiency values that are conditional on the observed values of the assessment items and the background variables' (PISA 2003).

group is a single-parent family. The other two groups are mixed families (student reported to live with mother and the male guardian, father and female guardian or two guardians) and nuclear families (student reported to live with mother and father). The dummy variables are derived from the index of family structure.

The next proxy of social capital to consider is *social communication within the family*, derived from the index of social communication with parents. It measures the frequency with which students discuss with their parents how well they perform at school, have a meal together, or just talk with their parents. It is assumed that children who communicate more with family members have stronger social ties with them.

Employment status of parents describes whether the parents work full-time, part-time or do not work at all. Previous literature emphasizes in particular the positive effects of the mother's involvement in her child's education. In this context it is not only important that resources of parents are present in the family (financial and human capital), but also that those are made available to the child by parents' involvement in their education. It is found that the majority of the time it is the mother who makes these resources available to the child, therefore it is assumed here that the role of working full-time has a negative effect on child's educational performance, as the mother will spend less time with her children and therefore be less involved in resource allocation.

As for the social capital variables outside the family, *club participation* used in PISA corresponds to the number of clubs an individual student belongs to. In the case of TIMSS, this variable measures the frequency of contact between students and their friends. Children that are members of clubs and have more contact with their friends are assumed to have higher amounts of social capital outside the family, given the stronger social ties with their friends or club members. *Sense of belonging to the school* is a variable that indicates the level that students feel connected to their school's social environment. Children that feel good at school are assumed to have a good relationship with other students at school and with teachers. Contrary to the previous variable that essentially proxies the amount of fun children have at school, this variable tell us something about the social atmosphere at school, which can foster cooperation among pupils and teachers and therefore have a positive effect on learning. The same is true for *communication between parents and school* which represents how often parents get informed about the performance of their children. The second group of independent variables contains those that are believed to be good approximations of cultural capital: family cultural resources, family cultural activities and cultural communication within the family. Family cultural resource is an index variable that measures how many items such as classical works of literature, works of art and the like are present in the home. In the case of TIMSS, this variable is represented by the number of books a family possesses. It is assumed that families possessing these items have higher endowments of cultural capital. Students' cultural activities are an index variable that measures how often students visit museums or art galleries, or attend the opera and classical concerts. The argument here is that the more positive attitudes children have toward cultural activities, the higher their endowments of cultural capital. The next variable measuring social capital is cultural communication within the family. This variable is derived from the index of cultural communication which measures how often students engage in communication with their parents or guardians regarding cultural themes including politics, social issues, books, television programs, or how often they listen to classical music together. It is assumed here that if children discuss cultural topics frequently with their parents this indicates high endowments of cultural capital in their families.

3.3 Other background variables

The human capital of parents is approximated by two variables: parental educational level and parental occupational status. *Parental educational level* indicates the highest level of parental education according to national qualifications, which are adjusted following the International Classification of Education with the aim of producing internationally comparable indicators of educational attainment. In the case of this study, the variables for father and mother are kept separate. *Parental occupational status* is a variable derived from the International Index of Socio-Economic Status (Ganzeboom, de Graaf and Treiman, 1992). It is based on the father's or mother's education, which ever is higher. The low values represent low socio-economic status.

The variable that measures financial capital is described as *family financial resources* and reports the possessions belonging to the family including items like number of dishwashers, educational software, cellular phones, and so on. Possession of these items can be seen as a good approximation for the family's wealth.

Other background variables used in the study are *gender*, a dummy variable, where the control groups are girls; *immigrant status*, a dummy variable where the control group consists of native students and the dummies are part of two groups, first- and second-generation immigrants.

Finally, the *type of community*, which consists of two dummies: the control group consists of students who live in a village and the dummy variables signify those living either in a town or a big city (with a population of over one million people).

3.4 Imputation

Under the variables to be controlled for in this empirical analysis, there was between 3 percent and 35 percent missing. Excluding these students from the sample would imply a significant reduction in the sample size. Moreover, assuming that the values are randomly missing would in fact be a rather strong assumption for many of the variables. Therefore, the values are imputed following the averages of the extant values of the variables under consideration. In addition, the dummies for missing values (non-missing being a control group) are included in the regression analysis.

4 Regression model: Micro-educational production function with a focus on social and cultural capital

Four hypotheses were presented in the introduction of this paper. In order to test these hypotheses, an adjusted version of the educational production function will be estimated for the selected number of European countries that participated in the TIMSS and PISA studies. The concept of educational production function is used to study the output of the educational process, i.e. the educational achievement of students (Hanushek, 1986). The educational production function links the educational achievement to inputs available in and outside of the school such as students' family background characteristics and school resources. Using the student test scores as the output of the education function, it is possible to yield evidence on the direction, magnitude and significance of the input-output relationships (Woessmann, 2002). The adjusted version of the educational production function to be estimated in this paper is described as follows:

$$(1.1) \quad T_{ics} = \alpha + \beta_1 S'_{ics} + \beta_2 C'_{ics} + \beta_3 B'_{ics} + \beta_4 dummy * S'_{ics} + \beta_5 dummy * C'_{ics} + \beta_6 dummy * B'_{ics} + \beta_7 dummy + \varepsilon_{ics}$$

Where T is a mathematics test score of each student i, in country c, at schools s. S is the vector that measures a set of variables describing social capital at the family level, C is a vector that represents the measures of cultural capital, B is the vector representing the other background

variables. Coefficients β_1, β_2 are vectors of parameters to be estimated. The parameters determine the magnitude and direction of the relationship between social, cultural capital and educational achievements of each student. These coefficients indicate the relationship for all individuals across all of Europe between their endowments of social and cultural capital and educational performance (in Table 1 this is represented in the first column of the results termed 'Western societies'). The set of vector β_3 of parameters to be estimated indicates the relationship between other aspects of students' social background such as parents' human capital or financial capital of the family and educational outcomes of children belonging to this family.¹⁴

The coefficients we are most interested in are those of the interaction terms, namely β_4 and β_5 . Given that the control group of the dummies are Western societies¹⁵, these vectors of parameters indicate the differences between the Eastern and Western European models. In other words, the statistical significance of β_4 and β_5 vector indicates the different roles played by independent variables representing social and cultural capital in East versus the West. As such, they tell us if there is a significant difference between the Eastern and Western European models; they are found in the second column of Table 1.

The net effect of respectively social and cultural capital¹⁶ for the Eastern European model (represented in the last column) is the sum of β_4 and β_5 vectors and β_1 and β_2 which vectors determines the strength and direction of the relationship between social capital and cultural capital *and* educational outcomes of students in Eastern Europe.

The sample design of PISA and TIMSS contains varying sampling probabilities for different students from different schools as well as clustered data. In order to correct for this, weighted least square estimation is used here as a regression technique for all the regressions performed with this data set. This technique allows for the assignment of different weights to students. The weights are provided by the PISA and TIMSS data sets. In addition, the cluster design of the study is not ignored, but corrected for by taking into account the fact that the primary sampling units (PSU) are not students but their schools in case of PISA and classes, in case of TIMSS.

¹⁴ If the de-stratification policies had been successful, the sum of the coefficients would be considerably smaller than in the West, implying no relationship between social background and educational achievement.

¹⁵ Therefore, the dummy variable is defined as '1' if the country belongs to the Former Eastern bloc and '0' if it is a Western country.

 $^{^{}_{16}}$ But also other background variables, where we are looking at the sum of eta_3 and eta_6 .

5 Results of the empirical analysis

5.1 The effects of social capital at the family level

According to the first hypothesis of this article one would expect to find a higher association between social capital at the family level and educational achievement in the communist countries. In order to test this hypothesis, Model 1 in Table 1 reports the results of the TIMSS 1995 study. The variables that approximate social capital at the family level used in this estimation are *educational support of the family* and *family form*.

Model 1: Weighted least square model			
	Western societies	Interaction effects	Eastern societies
Family level effects			
Gender (male)	4.661***	n.s.	4.661***
Mother's education	0.535	2.324***	2.324***
Father's education	3.358***	n.s.	3.358***
Native (ref. immigrant)	17.21***	-8.668*	8.524***
Home educational resources	55.03***	n.s.	55.03***
Social capital in the family			
Nuclear family (ref. single family)	8.459***	n.s.	8.459**
Educational support	-2.211**	4.238**	2.207**
Social capital outside family			
Disciplinary climate	0.531	n.s.	n.s.
Influence parents	-5.815	n.s.	n.s.
Club participation	-6.58***	4.874***	-1.71**
Time with friends	-8.94***	5.173***	-3.76**
Cultural capital effects			
Cultural possessions	14.00***	n.s.	14.00***
Cultural activities	1.408***	n.s.	1.408***
Intercept	395.6***		
R^2 of the model	0.176		

Table 1: The association between educational achievement and social and cultural capital in Western and Eastern societies in year 1995

Note: N = 110006 respondents. Levels of significance: *p < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001. Source: TIMSS 1995.

The estimates in these early stages of transition show significant differences between Eastern Europe regarding the association between provided educational support in the family and the educational achievement of children belonging to these families. Whereas in the Western societies we observe a negative effect, in Eastern Europe this effect is positive. This can be seen as a rather surprising result; however, it is possible that this variable has a different meaning in communist countries. Earlier research has shown that it is not entirely clear what educational support really measures.

As Coleman suggested, it can be a sign of taking care of educational performance of a child. On the other hand, parents tend to put more effort on improving educational performance of their children if they have learning problems. If this is the case, it means that this variable measures the reverse effects here, where it is the educational achievement that causes educational support and not vice versa¹⁷. If this is true then the negative relation is not a surprising result. Given that in socialist societies a relationship between parents and children was important for transmission of norms and values it could be argued that parents in general were more concerned with the education of their children.

As for the role of family form, in both East and West the results show that children from nuclear families perform better than those coming from single-parent families. There is no significant difference in the nature of this relationship between Western and post-communist societies. Therefore, this outcome is not in line with the expectation presented by the first hypothesis. However, the outcome does show support for Coleman's proposition that family form, as an indicator of social capital at the family level, matters for educational achievement both in Eastern and Western societies.

Moving on to later stages of the transition, the results of Model 2 in Table 2 show different outcomes regarding the first hypothesis in the year 2000. In the PISA 2000 study, different variables are used that portray social capital on the family level to those used in TIMSS. Here the role of amount of *social communication* between children and parents, *family educational* support, *family form* and *employment status of parents* are examined as the proxies for social capital on the family level.

¹⁷ For discussion of this argument see McNeal, 1999.

Model 2: Weighted least square model			
	Western societies	Interaction effects	Eastern societies
Family level effects			
Gender (male)	13.42***	n.s.	13.42***
Highest occupation status parents	0.988***	n.s.	0.988***
Fathers education	4.943***	n.s.	4.943***
Mother education	6.526***	-3.742*	2.78**
Financial resources	1.576	-4.763**	-4.736**
Home educational resources	14.59***	n.s.	14.59**
Native (ref. immigrant)	17.09***	n.s.	17.09**
Social capital in the family			
Social communication	-2.629***	6.560***	3.931**
Family educational support	-14.18***	n.s.	-14.18***
Nuclear family	15.13***	-14.52***	0.61**
Mother working fulltime	5.307**	n.s.	5.307**
Mother working part-time	8.043***	-17.07***	-9.027**
Father working fulltime	0.993	n.s.	n.s
Father working part-time	-21.22***	n.s.	-21.22**
Social capital outside family			
Teacher support	-4.041***	4.372*	0.33***
Bad disciplinary climate	-4.929***	n.s.	-4.929**
Student relations	5.405***	-6.169***	- 0.76**
Sense of belonging	1.404*	3.331*	4.735**
Cooperative learning	0.611	3.544*	3.544***
Parents communication school	-7.182**	18.36*	11.72**
Cultural capital effects			
Cultural communication	5.667***	n.s.	5.667**
Cultural activities	5.239***	6.560***	11.779**
Cultural possessions	0.242	5.943**	5.943**
Intercept	422.9***		
R^2 of the model	0.248		

Table 2: The association between educational achievement and social and cultural capital in Western and Eastern societies in year 2000

Note: N = 126716 respondents. Levels of significance: *p < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001. Source: PISA 2000.

According to the PISA 2000 results represented by Model 2 of Table 2, there is a significant difference found in the association of social communication between children and parents and the educational achievement of those children when Eastern Europe and Western Europe are compared. The negative coefficient for the overall model indicates that in Western societies this association is negative, whereas the larger positive coefficient of the interaction term indicates that in the post-communist countries this association is significant and positive. The negative result found in the West is a rather surprising result since according to Coleman's theory this variable would be the best one to describe the parent-child social relationship. The effects

observed in post-communist societies are in keeping with the theory implication, as they show that children who communicate more often with their parents also tend to attain higher achievement. It should also be noted that this coefficient is rather small in both an absolute and relative sense, i.e. when compared with other coefficients that portray social capital at the family level, such as family form or educational support of the family.

As for the educational support of the family, we observe that for the year 2000 a negative association with performance is found in both the East and the West. In addition, there is no significant difference between the Eastern and Western models. Given that this outcome is in line with what we have found in Model 1, it can be interpreted as another argument in favour of the explanation put forth in the previous section: children with difficulties get more educational support from their parents. This means that selection effects are captured by these results rather than the effect of parents' educational support.

Additionally, we observe that children from single-parent families perform worse than those from mixed or nuclear families. This is also in line with the expectation that children from single-parent families will be negatively affected by a smaller amount of social capital in the family caused by the absence of one parent. However, the results in the East and the West differ significantly when it comes to this aspect of social capital. We observe that the coefficient is significantly lower in the East. The differences between the association in Eastern and Western societies could possibly be explained by the following argumentation: Most of the research on the negative effects of divorce in Western countries on educational performance of the children affected shows that it is not the divorce as such that has a negative impact, but the consequences of divorce in terms of general well-being. This change is mostly related to the drop in income, which is not absorbed equally by both parents, and the woman is put in a disadvantaged position. It has also been shown that in societies that favour economic autonomy of the mother¹⁸ these effects are less pronounced (Andress, Borgloh, Giesselmann and Hummelsheim, 2006).

It could be argued that the less pronounced effect in the East is caused by one important structural difference between Eastern and Western Europe: labour markets. Communist ideology emphasized the importance of female employment in its attempt toward the maximum utilization of labour force potential. As a consequence, communist labour markets were characterized by higher female labour participation than capitalist ones ¹⁹ (Matysiak and

¹⁸ Scandinavian countries are a good example.

¹⁹ For example, women's labour force participation rates in Eastern Europe in the 1960s were two to three times higher than in Western Europe (ILO, 2007). Under state socialism in Eastern Europe, for instance, a `dual earner-female double burden model' was adopted. Women were expected to be workers as well as the primary care

Steinmetz, 2008), which made women less economically dependent on men. Additionally, the state provided significant support in terms of general social policies, such as well-regulated childcare assistance (Matysiak and Steinmetz, 2008). This being the case, we can argue that well-being losses induced by divorce were smaller for the Eastern European children than for Western ones, as women and children were negatively affected to a lesser extent than in the West.

However, the problem of this explanation for the observed difference of the association between family form and educational achievement is that it does not account for the difference in terms of social capital losses induced by divorce. Therefore, we need to take another important aspect of Eastern European families into account; primarily that it was not uncommon that a typical Eastern European household consisted of three generations (Clawson, 1973).

Due to the lack of housing, it was very difficult for young couples to move away from their parents. This implies that grandparents provided another `shelter' for the family, which could be seen as additional social capital that did not fall apart in the case of divorce. Consequently, there was less distortion between the total amount of social capital in the family than in the Western case. In Eastern Europe, the relationship with grandparents was important in the raising of the children, thus this aspect of social capital in the family should not be overlooked. As a result, children whose parents had separated were still left with a rather high amount of social capital relative to their Western counterparts.

Taking all of this into account, it is not surprising that the negative effect of divorce was less pronounced in the East. However, we did see that different processes were at work here, and the differences of social capital loss induced by divorce are only one part of explanation.

Another interesting result is found in connection to the employment status of both parents. In the case of mothers, we observe a positive effect in both regions for any type of maternal employment. However, working part-time has a stronger effect in the West; whereas in the East, the opposite relationship is found. In the case of Western countries, this supports the result found in previous research that maternal part-time occupation enables mothers to spend time with children and also earn income to afford better childcare while working. This makes part-time employment an optimal choice for mothers in the West (Muller 1995).

providers for their families (Siemieska, 1997; Geisler and Kreyenfeld, 2005). They were supported in performing their double roles by generous social policies, job guarantees, and low competition in the labour market. In this context, East Germany was the forerunner with a female labour force participation rate of 89 percent in 1988.

Again, the fact that Eastern Europe differs so much in this respect can be explained by the different structure of the labour market. In less developed economies, part-time work is not a widespread phenomenon. This means that mothers that cannot find work will most probably have to settle for part-time jobs, which in the East is characterized by low incomes. Consequently, the win-win situation in the West can be interpreted as lose-lose in the East, where mothers neither earn enough resources to afford good childcare nor do they spend enough time with their children.

When it comes to the role of the father's employment status, we observe the opposite results. Part-time work is very negatively related to educational outcomes in both societies. One of the possible explanations for this outcome is that given the traditional role of the father as the breadwinner of the family in the West and the goal of communist societies to achieve full employment rates, this might mean that fathers without full-time employment have not voluntary chosen this status. Therefore it is most likely that we find the negative income effect that dominates the social capital effect, meaning that less financial resources available to the family will have a negative effect on the education performance of children belonging to these families.

We can conclude that the obtained results of Models 1 and 2 show little support for the first hypothesis that there is a higher association between social capital at the family level and educational achievement in the communist societies relative to Western ones. We did observe significant differences between Eastern and Western societies regarding this association, but its direction and magnitude were predominately not in keeping with the proposed hypothesis. If speculative explanations put forth for this outcome are true, we can conclude that the variables used to portray social capital at the family level have different meaning in these two societies. A good example of this is employment status of the mother, which has often been examined as a determinant of social capital at the family level for Western countries. This leads me to observe that in the East being employed part-time meant the *inability* to obtain full-time employment, in the West this was mostly a choice. Therefore, its effects on educational achievement across these societies might be different due to the overall state of the labour market and not the loss or gain of social capital endured by it.

5.2 The effects of social capital at the school level

The second hypothesis of this article states that social capital at the school level has a stronger association with educational achievement in communist countries relative to Western societies. In order to test this hypothesis, I have used the following variables in Model 1: *time spent with friends, club participation, influence of parents* and *disciplinary climate at school.* For both variables that portray social relationships with peers (time spent with friends and club participation) we observe both in the East and West a negative effect on educational performance. However, such effects are much less prominent in the East; so much so that they are almost non-existent. This result indicates that the time students spend with their friends can possibly be interpreted as a form of distraction from learning and therefore negatively influences their educational performance. In addition, we observe that neither in East nor in the West does the disciplinary climate at school significantly correlate with educational outcomes of the children of that school.

More interesting results were obtained by estimating the same relationship for the PISA 2000 study, not only because of the outcomes but also the fact that more aspects of social capital at the school level are used that could possibly better capture its effects than those available in the 1995 study. Social capital at the school level for the PISA 2000 study is proxied by the variables that better assesses the social atmosphere at school, as they portray the social ties among pupils (*student relations, sense of belonging, cooperative learning*), between pupils and teachers (*teachers support*) and between parents and the school (*parents' communication*).

Regarding the role of student relations, there is a positive and significant association found in Western societies; whereas this relationship is slightly negative in the case of Eastern societies. As for the sense of belonging, we find that the positive effect on educational achievement is stronger in Eastern Europe. Cooperative learning among students plays a more important role in the East as well. From this we can conclude that the outcomes for two of the three variables that portray social relationships among students at school are in line with the expectations proposed by the second hypothesis. It should also be noted that these effects are only moderate when compared to those that dominate in the overall model, such as family form.

As for the relationship of support between teachers and pupils, the results of Model 2 show a significant negative association in Western societies and a non-existent relationship in the East. The outcome for the Western countries can be explained similar to the negative association between educational support of parents and the educational performance of their children. This means that in the case of teachers, in the West they potentially give most of their attention to children that have problems with learning, which explains the counter-intuitive effects.

Finally, we observe a large positive and significant effect of parent's communication with school in Eastern societies, whereas it is negative in the West. However, the East-West difference regarding this variable is striking. This makes the effect of parents' communication with school the largest effect of all in the Eastern societies. These outcomes give overwhelming support for the second hypothesis by showing how much social networking between school and parents matters in Eastern societies relative to other factors. As suggested in the theoretical framework, communists consistently emphasized the importance of community over individuals, and we see is that in the case of education this effect is still present²⁰.

The negative effect of this variable found in the Western societies can be possibly explained by the same argument as one put forward for the educational support provided by the teachers and social communication within family, meaning that in the West the communication between parents and children mostly takes place when the child has learning problems. This gives us reason to believe that this variable, but as well variables portraying the educational support of teachers and of family, have different meaning in these two societies.

5.3 The effects of cultural capital

Two contradicting hypotheses on the association between cultural capital and educational performance were put forward in the theoretical framework of this article; I hypothesized that the association between cultural capital and educational performance will be weaker in communist societies than in the non-socialist Western countries (Hypothesis 3) and that it is also possible that cultural capital had an equal effect on educational achievement in Eastern Europe as in the Western European countries during communism (Hypothesis 4). The first hypothesis is backed by the argument that socialist policies were aimed at destroying traditional links between social background and educational achievement. The second hypotheses is based

 $^{^{20}}$ The latter is well illustrated by Lonkila's (1998) comparative study of the teaching profession in post-Soviet Russia and Finland, which includes a detailed analysis following the examination of teachers' diaries and interviews with both Russian and Finnish teachers. The article illustrates that the process of becoming a teacher, as well as the profession itself, is very different in the two countries, especially in terms of the social meaning of work. Lonkila notes that Russian teachers indicated that one of their particular responsibilities involved the moral development of children; therefore emphasizing the importance of a highly personal relationship. Not only did the Russian teachers record significantly higher levels of social ties with pupils and parents than their Finnish counterparts, they also testified to having exceptionally strong and effective bonds with their pupils. Lonkila explains this phenomena as being rooted in the ideology of *vapsitanie*, the moral upbringing concerned with all aspects of children's lives, which was not only seen as the task of pupils' families but of the school as well.

According to Lonkila, the personal relationship between pupils and teachers was not dictated by the regime, but instead was the result of close ties between teachers and parents for the purpose of overcoming restrictions imposed by the regime. Her findings suggest, for example, that work is more important to Russian teachers than for their Finnish colleagues; not in the professional sense, but rather as a social environment that provides an arena for socializing and access to informal resources mediated through work. The profession of teaching comes with a well-developed social network of teachers and parents, the side effect of which also facilitates closer ties between teachers and pupils, thereby accomplishing the moral upbringing. Moreover, if this is the case then this variable has different meaning in the Eastern and Western societies.

on the argument that people from higher social strata also found ways to assure better education for their children under communism, therefore the link between social background and educational achievement did not cease to exist under the communist regime.

It should also be observed that along with home educational resources, the coefficient of cultural possessions is the second biggest in the overall model. If we assume that home educational resources portray the human capital of the family, then we can safely assume that there is overwhelming support for the argument that families that invest in educational and cultural resources continued to provide better opportunities for their children. In fact, this effect is found to dominate all other effects, which is in itself a very important result. This result is also in line with the findings of previous literature, which suggest that communism was in no way effective in destroying the traditional link between social background and educational performance.

The results presented in Table 2 in Model 2 for PISA 2000 show even stronger support for these findings. We see that in Eastern Europe, not only are the cultural communication and cultural activities of the family both positively related to the educational outcomes of the children in these families, but this relationship is even stronger in the East relative to the West. Two of the three variables portraying the cultural capital of the family (cultural activities and cultural possessions) are more strongly positively associated with educational outcomes. The third variable (cultural communication) has the same significant and positive association both in the East and the West. This result contradicts the third hypothesis and suggests that the communist regime not only failed to succeed in eliminating the link between family background and educational performance of children belonging to these families, but it managed to emphasize this link even more when compared to the West.

It should be noted that a possible explanation for differences in the PISA and TIMSS outcomes relates to the age groups they examine. TIMSS studies the educational achievement for pupils at the age of 13, meaning that according to the model of the educational system in Eastern European societies, these children are still in primary school (Wong, 1998), whereas the PISA age group comprises students in secondary school. The implication for the results is that in the case of PISA, cultural capital effects are stronger because they have two functions: traditional symbolic effects, but at this stage they also provide access to better education, as at the age of 15 selection of secondary schooling had already taken place.

When confronted with the outcomes of the empirical analysis, we can safely reject the hypothesis that communism succeeded in abolishing the link between social status and educational inequality. The results of TIMSS 1995 show overwhelming support for the fourth hypothesis that this association remained equal under communism; PISA 2000's results suggest that communism even emphasized the importance of culture.

These outcomes are in keeping with previous research conducted on this relationship in communist societies outlined earlier. Therefore, we can conclude that cultural capital was a multi-functional asset during communism. It was not only used as an alternative way of social stratification but also as one of the means of social reproduction through its use in the context of education. Its function was therefore similar to that in the West, but not identical, as communism did not allow for the accumulation of wealth as an alternative resource.

5.4 Effects of other background variables

The models also include variables that portray other aspects of family background, because we know from previous research that all of these are also significantly related to educational performance (Dronkers, 2010). These are parental human capital, their occupational status, home educational resources and immigrant status of the families.

Two variables are used in this paper as an approximation for parental human capital: the highest level of education achieved by the mother and father, and the highest occupational status of the parents. The results of TIMSS 1995 show that there exists a positive relationship between educational achievement of the parents and the educational achievement of their children. This relationship is stronger in the East. The PISA 2000 study confirms this fin ding. Both fathers' and mothers' educational achievements are positively correlated with those of their children, although there is no difference regarding the magnitude of this relationship between the East and the West. For the year 2000, the estimated model for the PISA study indicates a positive relationship between parental human capital and the educational outcomes of their children. However, the strength of the relationship differs between the East and the West, being stronger in the East.

The same is true for the occupational status of the parents, which is only examined in the PISA data set. A positive relationship is found between occupational status of the parents and the educational achievement of their children. There is no difference in the relationship between the Eastern and Western European model; however, it should be noted that this relationship is rather minimal given the magnitude of its coefficient.

Nevertheless, we should note the relevance of home educational resources, which seem to be one of the most valuable resources in the educational production function in both the PISA and TIMSS studies. In the case of 1995, we find that it has the most significant effect by far on educational performance. There is, however, no difference between the East and the West. A positive effect is found in the years 2000 in both East and West.

Finally, another interesting result of this study is the role played by immigrant status. All studies under consideration find a highly negative effect of being an immigrant on educational performance. In fact, in the case of TIMSS 1995 and PISA 2000 this is found to be the second biggest explanatory factor. However, the negative effect of being an immigrant is smaller in Eastern Europe relative to the West in the case of 1995 study.

Explained within the framework of social capital theories, this outcome can be interpreted as a consequence of the loss of social capital because of moving. However, it is more likely that parents of children coming from these families have different attitudes toward education than their native counterparts; the TIMSS 1995 results showed considerable differences between Eastern and Western European models. Earlier research (Levels, Dronkers and Kraaykamp, 2009) has linked different attitudes toward learning across immigrant populations to their countries of origin. If we assume that there is less cultural diversity between immigrants and natives in the Eastern European societies²¹ than in the Western ones, then the difference of these effects is not surprising. However, these are only speculative explanations and given the relevance of this variable, further research on the topic is needed.

6 Conclusion

The study of differences in the relationship between social and cultural capital and educational performance between Eastern and Western societies presented in this article demonstrated application of Coleman's and Bourdieu's theory in an international context. This study showed how the multi-dimensionality of these concepts can be applied in different societal contexts. In the context of societal differences between Eastern, post-communist societies and Western, traditional capitalist societies, association between various aspects of social and cultural capital and educational performance of children are examined. To this end, the empirical analysis consisted in the estimation of a modified version of educational production function. Through

²¹ Given the fact that most of immigrants in Eastern societies come from the neighboring countries

this estimation, the association between the educational achievement of children and their (or their families') social and cultural capital is measured and compared across these two societies.

Several expectations were formulated in the main hypothesis of this article. Regarding social capital at the family and school level, it was hypothesized that they would have a stronger association to educational achievement in the East relative to the West (Hypotheses 1 and 2). As for cultural capital, two contradicting hypotheses were put forward based on the counterbalancing processes that were influencing the traditional link between cultural capital and educational performance; the third hypothesis of this article captured the expectation that there is a weaker link between cultural capital and educational performance in the East compared to the West, whereas the fourth hypothesis proposed that there exists no link between the two.

The empirical results demonstrated very weak support for the first hypothesis. I did find different relationships between aspects of social capital at the family level in these two societies; however, the differences were not in line with the expectations put forth by my hypothesis: single parenthood had negative or no relation to educational achievement, full-time employment status of the mother had the same positive impact as in the West, while part-time employment showed biggest differences. Finally, the most significant difference was found between educational support of the family, where this variable was determined to be negatively associated with educational achievement in Western societies and positively associated with the same in Eastern ones.

My explanation for this divergence regarding aspects of social capital at the family level lies in the possibly different meaning of variables traditionally used to approximate social capital at the family level in these two societies. For example, earlier research has shown that in families where mothers work part-time and both parents contribute to child rearing duties, children will positively influence educational achievement. The explanation for these results is that mothers who work part-time have more time to dedicate to their children than those working full-time. In addition, they also earn resources that will provide them with adequate childcare while at work. A similar argument was used to explain the effects of divorce where the lack of one parent in the family was assumed to have negative consequences on the levels of social capital, and therefore on educational achievement. The underlying idea is that it is primarily the physical presence of parents (and its consequences) that has a positive effect on levels of social capital in the family, thereby positively affecting educational achievement. What we have seen is that in Eastern societies, children's upbringing was primarily in the hands of grandparents or the state as a result of employment and family polices. Consequently, I argued that the absence of one parent in single parent families did not have a negative effect on social capital nor on educational achievement. This also explains why my results showed a very weak relationship between single parenthood and divorce in Eastern societies.

As far as part-time employment in concerned, the undesirability of such employment in Eastern societies indicates that mothers with part-time employment do not spend enough time with her children, nor do they have desired employment, given that the latter is necessity rather than choice. Accordingly, we observe the opposite (negative) effect in Eastern societies compared to Western ones.

As a result, if we take divorce or the employment status of the mother as an indicator of the amount of social capital in a family without taking into account the structural differences between these two societies, it is not entirely clear what the results of empirical analysis reveal. It is primarily because of these policies that divorce and employment will have different effects on the levels of social capital in the family, and therefore will be the underlying source of educational achievement.

Based on the above, my conclusion is that the indicators of social capital applied in previous studies and used in this one, might not be the most adequate for measuring the level of social capital in the family for the context of this study. The main reason for this is the structural differences of family life and labour markets in Eastern and Western Europe, including composition of the household and the opportunity for full-time employment.

In contrast to the first hypothesis, the empirical results showed significant support for the second hypothesis of this article. A stronger link was established between resources inherent to social relationships and networks at the school level and educational performance than the one observed in the West. These results not only support Coleman's proposition that being an active member of the community of schools and parents positively influences schooling outcomes, more specifically they emphasize the importance of this type of social capital for educational achievement in societies where other productive resources are scarce, such as a family's material wealth. However, also here I have raised my concerns about the validity of the variables used to portray these aspects of social capital, in particular the one of the social relationship between schools and parents.

Regarding the relevance of cultural capital, results showed virtually no support for the third hypothesis; rather, they revealed that communist societies were not able to eliminate the traditional role of the family as the agent of social stratification. Instead, they showed that coming from families endowed with cultural capital remained an important determinant of educational achievement, which corresponds to the fourth hypothesis.

In addition to these effects, the most consistent result of the study regards the effects of home educational resources and immigrant status of the family on child's educational performance. In the case of home educational resources, we find no difference between the East and the West, whereas the negative effect of being an immigrant is much weaker in the East.

The most valuable contribution of this paper is that it demonstrates the relative importance of social and cultural capital, which varies according to different institutional and cultural contexts. In the case of differences between Eastern and Western societies, it is critical to understand how the communist regime influenced through its policies the accumulation and allocation of social and cultural capital in the context of education. As we have seen, educational, but also labour market policies were guided by different incentives than those in Western societies. Therefore, as shown in this article, they also had different consequences on the relative significance of various dimensions of social and cultural capital for educational achievement. Further, the use of social and cultural capital not only enhanced the conversion of social inequality in terms of education, but it also compensated for the deficiencies imposed by communism.

Finally, one should note that there are several important questions left out of the scope of this study that deserve attention in further research. I analysed the relationship between social and cultural capital and educational achievement in a comparative perspective, but I did not take into account the fact that Eastern and Western European societies are not homogenous groups of countries. Future research on this topic should account for differences is social systems in order to achieve more differentiated outcomes across countries. This would be of particular importance where social capital at the family level is concerned, as we have seen that differences in family and labour market policies question the validity of the variables used to approximate social capital at the family level.

Even if we take into account the heterogeneity of the institutional systems of these countries, the question remains how adequate are the variables that measure the social capital at the family level. According to theoretical implications of structural approach to social capital, it is the physical presence of parents, in particular the one of the mother that is important for transmission of human capital through a social connection between a parent and a child. Whereas her presence seems to be a necessary condition it is not the aim in it self, and the results of the first paper have shown that we can not look only at this aspect of social capital. If not accompanied by the 'right' norms and values, the social connection does not mean much. It is these norms and values that guide the use of social connection, and make it productive. Therefore, as suggested by Coleman, the research on the effects of social capital at the family level on educational outcomes, should always take both of these aspects of social capital into account.

Bibliography

Adam, F. & Rončević, B., 2003. Social Capital: Recent Debates and Research Trends. *Social Science Information*, 42(2), pp.155 - 183.

Adams, R.J. & Wu, M., 2002. *PISA 2000 Technical Report*, Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development.

Adler, M.A., 2002. German Unification as a Turning Point in East German Women's Life Course: Biographical Changes in Work and Family Roles. *Sex Roles*, 47(1), pp. 83 - 98.

Alesina, A. & La Ferrara, E., 2002. Who Trusts Others? *Journal of Public Economics*, 85(2), pp. 207 - 234.

Almond, G.A., 1983. Communism and political culture theory. *Comparative Politics*, 15(2), pp.127–138.

Astone, N.M. & McLanahan, S.S., 1991. Family Structure, Parental Practices and High School Completion. *American Sociological Review*, 56(3), pp. 309 - 320.

Becker, G.S., 1962. Investment in Human Capital: A Theoretical Analysis. *The Journal of Political Economy*, 70(5), pp. 9 - 49.

Billiet, J. & Cambré, B., 1999. Social Capital, Active Membership in Voluntary Associations and Some Aspects of Political Participation: An Empirical Case Study. *Social Capital and European Democracy*, pp.240 - 262.

Bjornskov, C., 2006. The Multiple Facets of Social Capital. *European Journal of Political Economy*, 22(1), pp. 22 - 40.

Blossfeld, H.P. & Shavit, Y., 1993. Persisting Barriers. Changes in Educational Opportunities in Thirteen Countries, Boulder, CO: Westview-Press.

Boeri, T. & Terrell, K., 2002. Institutional Determinants of Labor Reallocation in Transition. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 16(1), pp. 51-76.

Boix, C. & Posner, D.N., 1998. Social Capital: Explaining Its Origins and Effects on Government Performance. *British Journal of Political Science*, 28(04), pp. 686 - 693.

Bourdieu, P., 1986. The Forms of Social Capital. In *Handbook of Theory and Research of for the Sociology of Education*. Greenwood Press, pp. 241-258.

Bourdieu, P. & Nice, R., 1984. *Distinction: A Social Critique of the Judgement of Taste*, Harvard Univ Press Cambridge, MA.

Brehm, J. & Rahn, W., 1997. Individual-level Evidence for the Causes and Consequences of Social Capital. *American journal of Political Science*, 41(3), pp. 999-1023.

Carbonaro, W.J., 1998. A Little Help from My Friend's Parents: Intergenerational Closure and Educational Outcomes. *Sociology of Education*, 71(4), pp. 295 - 313.

Castiglione, D., Van Deth, J.W. & Wolleb, G. eds., 2008. *The Handbook of Social Capital*, New York, Oxford University Press.

Clawson, R.W., 1973. Political Socialization of Children in the USSR. *Political Science Quarterly*, 88(4), pp. 684 - 712.

Co-Operation, O. for E. & Development, 2003. *The PISA 2003 Assessment Framework: Mathematics, Reading, Science and Problem Solving Knowledge and Skills,* Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Developmentn for Economic Co-Operation and Development.

Coleman, J.S., 1994. Foundations of Social Theory, Belknap Press Cambridge, MA.

Coleman, J.S., 1988. Social Capital in the Creation of Human Capital. *American Journal of Sociology*, 94(1), pp. 95 - 120.

Coleman, J.S. & Hoffer, T., 1987. Public and Private High Schools: The Impact of Communities, Basic Books New York.

Dasgupta, P. & Serageldin, I. eds., 2001. *Social Capital: A Multifaceted Perspective*, The World Bank Washington D.C.

De Graaf, N.D., De Graaf, P.M. & Kraaykamp, G., 2000. Parental Cultural Capital and Educational Attainment in the Netherlands: A Refinement of the Cultural Capital Perspective. *Sociology of Education*, 73(2), pp. 92 – 111.

De Graaf, N.D. & Flap, H.D., 1988. With a Little Help from My Friends: Social Resources As an Explanation of Occupational Status and Income in West Germany, the Netherlands, and the United States. *Social Forces*, 67(2), pp. 452 - 472.

De Graaf, P.M., 1988. Parents' Financial and Cultural Resources, Grades, and Transition to Secondary School in the Federal Republic of Germany. *European Sociological Review*, 4(3), pp. 209 - 221.

De Graaf, P.M. & Huinink, J.J., 1992. Trends in Measured and Unmeasured Effects of Family Background on Educational Attainment and Occupational Status in the Federal Republic of Germany. *Social Science Research*, 21(1), pp. 84-112.

De Tocqueville, A. & Frohnen, B., 2003. Democracy in America, Regnery Publishing Washington.

Delhey, J. & Newton, K., 2003. Who Trusts? The Origins of Social Trust in Seven Societies. *European Societies*, 5(2), pp. 93 - 137.

Dijkstra, A.B. & Peschar, J.L. eds., 2002. Social Capital in Education: Theoretical Issues and Empirical Knowledge in Attainment Research, Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Lanham.

Dika, S.L. & Singh, K., 2002. Applications of Social Capital in Educational Literature: A Critical Synthesis. *Review of Educational Research*, 72(1), pp. 31 - 60.

DiMaggio, P., 1982. Cultural Capital and School Success: The Impact of Status Culture Participation on the Grades of US High School Students. *American Sociological Review*, 47(2), pp. 189 - 201.

DiMaggio, P. & Mohr, J., 1985. Cultural Capital, Educational Attainment, and Marital Selection. *American Journal of Sociology*, 90(6), p.pp. 1231–1261.

Djilas, M., 1957. The New Class: An Analysis of the Communist System, Praeger New York.

Dronkers, J., 2010. Features of Educational Systems as Factors in the Creation of Unequal Educational Outcomes. In J. Dronkers, ed., *Quality and Inequality of Education*. Springer Netherlands, pp. 299 - 327.

Dyk, P.H. & Wilson, S.M., 1999. Family-Based Social Capital Considerations as Predictors of Attainments Among Appalachian Youth. *Sociological Inquiry*, 69(3), pp. 477 - 503.

Gonzalez, E.J. & Smith, T.A., 1997. User Guide for the TIMSS International Database: Primary and Middle School Years, IEA, Amsterdam.

Granovetter, M., 1983. The Strength of Weak Ties: A Network Theory Revisited. *Sociological Theory*, 1(1), pp. 201 - 233.

Granovetter, M.S., 1973. The Strength of Weak Ties. *American Journal of Sociology*, 78(6), pp. 1360 - 1380.

Green, W.H., 2007. Econometric Analysis (7 th), Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Hagan, J., Merkens, H. & Boehnke, K., 1995. Delinquency and Disdain: Social Capital and the Control of Right-Wing Extremism Among East and West Berlin Youth. *American Journal of Sociology*, 100(4), pp. 1028 - 1052.

Hanley, E., 2003. A Party of Workers or a Party of Intellectuals? Recruitment into Eastern European Communist Parties, 1945-1988. *Social Forces*, 81(4), pp. 1073 - 1105.

Hanley, E. & McKeever, M., 1997. The Persistence of Educational Inequalities in State-Socialist Hungary: Trajectory-Maintenance Versus Counterselection. *Sociology of Education*, 70(1), pp. 1 - 18.

Hanushek, E.A. & Kim, D., 2000. Schooling, Labor Force Quality, and Economic Growth. *American Economic Review*, 90(5), pp. 1184 - 1208.

Hardin, R., 2002. Trust and Trustworthiness, Russell Sage Foundation Publications: New York.

Healy, T. et al., 2001. *The Well-Being of Nations: The Role of Human and Social Capital*, Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development.

Hero, R.E., 2003. Social Capital and Racial Inequality in America. *Perspectives on Politics*, 1(1), pp. 113 - 122.

Horvat, E.M.N., Weininger, E.B. & Lareau, A., 2003. From Social Ties to Social Capital: Class Differences in the Relations Between Schools and Parent Networks. *American Educational Research Journal*, 40(2), pp. 319 - 351.

Howard, M.M., 2002. The Weakness of Postcommunist Civil Society. Journal of Democracy, 13(1), pp. 157 - 169.

Inglehart, R., 1997. Modernization and Postmodernization: Cultural, Economic and Political Change in Forty-Three Societies, Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

Israel, G.D., Beaulieu, L.J. & Hartless, G., 2001. The Influence of Family and Community Social Capital on Educational Achievement. *Rural Sociology*, 66(1), pp. 43 - 68.

Janowski, A., 1992. Polish Education: Changes and Prospects. Oxford Studies in Comparative Education, 2(1), pp. 41 - 55.

Johnston, G. & Percy-Smith, J., 2003. In Search of Social Capital. *Policy & Politics*, 31(3), pp. 321 - 334.

Kalmijn, M. & Kraaykamp, G., 1996. Race, Cultural Capital, and Schooling: An Analysis of Trends in the United States. *Sociology of Education*, 69(1), pp. 22 - 34.

Knack, S., 2002. Social Capital, Growth and Poverty: A Survey of Cross-Country Evidence. In C. Grootaert & T. Van Bastelaer, eds. *The Role of Social Capital in Development: An Empirical Assessment.* Harvard University Press Cambridge, MA, pp. 42 - 82.

Knack, S. & Keefer, P., 1997. Does Social Capital Have An Economic Payoff? A Cross-Country Investigation*. *Quarterly journal of economics*, 112(4), p.1251–1288.

Köhler, U. & Kreuter, F., 2005. Data Analysis Using Stata, Stata Corp.

Kraaykamp, G. & Nieuwbeerta, P., 2000. Parental Background and Lifestyle Differentiation in Eastern Europe: Social, Political, and Cultural Intergenerational Transmission in Five Former Socialist Societies. *Social Science Research*, 29(1), pp. 92 - 122.

Kreuter, F. & Valliant, R., 2005. A Survey on Survey Statistics: What Is Done, Can Be Done in Stata, and What's Missing? In *German Stata Users' Group Meetings 2005*.

Lareau, A., 2001. Linking Bourdieu's Concepts of Capital to the Broader Field. In B. J. Biddle, ed. *Social class, poverty, and education: policy and practice.* Routledge, pp. 77 - 100.

Lareau, A. & Horvat, E.M.N., 1999. Moments of Social Inclusion and Exclusion Race, Class, and Cultural Capital in Family-School Relationships. *Sociology of Education*, 72(1), pp. 37 - 53.

Lareau, A. & Lamont, M., 1988. Cultural capital: Allusions, Gaps and Glissandos in Recent Theoretical Developments. *Sociological Theory*, 6(2), pp. 153 - 168.

Levels, M., Dronkers, J. & Kraaykamp, G., 2008. Immigrant Children's Educational Achievement in Western Countries: Origin, Destination, and Community Effects on Mathematical Performance. *American Sociological Review*, 73(5), pp. 835 - 853.

Lijphart, A., 1971. Comparative Politics and the Comparative Method. *The American Political Science Review*, 65(3), pp.682 - 693.

Lin, N., 1999. Building a Network Theory of Social Capital. Connections, 22(1), pp. 28 - 51.

Lin, N., Cook, K.S. & Burt, R.S. eds., 2001. *Social Capital: Theory and Research*, London: Aldine de Gruyter.

Lin, N. & Erickson, B.H. eds., 2008. Social Capital: An International Research Program, New York, Oxford University Press.

Lobodzińska, B., 1995. Family, Women, and Employment in Central-Eastern Europe, Greenwood Press, Westport.

Lobodzińska, B., 2009. Women's Employment or Return to Family Values in Central-Eastern Europe. *Journal of Comparative Family Studies*, 27(3), pp. 519 - 544.

Long, S. & Long, R., 1975. Controversy in the Classroom: Student Viewpoint and Educational Outcome. *Teaching Political Science*, 2(3), pp. 275 - 299.

Lonkila, M., 1998. Continuity and Change in Social Networks of St. Petersburg Teachers, 1993–1996. *Connections*, 21(1), pp. 62 - 85.

Lunstrum, J.P., 1981. Building Motivation Through the Use of Controversy. *Journal of Reading*, 24(8), pp. 687 - 691.

Matěj\ru, P., 1993. Who Won and Who Lost in a Socialist Redistribution in Czechoslovakia? In Y. Shavit & H. P. Blossfeld, eds. *Persistent Inequality. Changing Educational Attainment in Thirteen Countries.* Westview Press, Boulder, pp. 251 - 271.

Matěju, P. & Peschar, J.L., 1990. Family Background and Educational Attainment in Czechoslovakia and the Netherlands: The Analysis of Cultural and Economic Sources of Inequality in Comparative Perspective. *International Journal of Sociology*, 19(3), pp. 72-103.

Matěju, P. & Straková, J., 2005. The Role of the Family and the School in the Reproduction of Educational Inequalities in the Post-Communist Czech Republic. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 26(1), pp. 17 - 40.

Matysiak, A. & Steinmetz, S., 2008. Finding Their Way? Female Employment Patterns in West Germany, East Germany, and Poland. *European Sociological Review*, 24(3), pp. 331 - 345.

McNeal Jr, R.B., 1999. Parental Involvement as Social Capital: Differential Effectiveness on Science Achievement, Truancy, and Dropping Out. *Social Forces*, 78(1), pp. 117 - 144.

Merelman, R.M., 1971. The Development of Policy Thinking in Adolescence. *The American Political Science Review*, 65(4), pp. 1033 - 1047.

Metz, E., McLellan, J. & Youniss, J., 2003. Types of Voluntary Service and Adolescents' Civic Development. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, 18(2), pp. 188 - 203.

Mihaylova, D., 2004. Social Capital in Central and Eastern Europe. A Critical Assessment and Literature Review, Budapest: Central European University.

Mishler, W. & Rose, R., 2002. Learning and Re-Learning Regime Support: The Dynamics of Post-Communist Regimes. *European Journal of Political Research*, 41(1), pp. 5 - 36.

Mishler, W. & Rose, R., 2001. What Are the Origins of Political Trust? *Comparative Political Studies*, 34(1), pp. 30-62.

Morgan, S.L. & S\orensen, A.B., 1999. Parental Networks, Social Closure, and Mathematics Learning: A Test of Coleman's Social Capital Explanation of School Effects. *American Sociological Review*, 64(5), pp. 661 - 681.

Morrow, V., 1999. Conceptualising Social Capital in Relation to the Well-being of Children and Young People: A Critical Review. *The Sociological Review*, 47(4), pp. 744 - 765.

Narayan, D. & Cassidy, M.F., 2001. A Dimensional Approach to Measuring Social Capital: Development and Validation of a Social Capital Inventory. *Current Sociology*, 49(2), pp. 59 - 102.

Neidorf, T.S. et al., 2006. Comparing Mathematics Content in the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP), Trends in International Mathematics and Science Study (TIMSS), and Program for International Student Assessment (PISA) 2003 Assessments. US Department of Education. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.

Nieuwbeerta, P. & Rijken, S., 1996. Educational Expansion and Educational Reproduction in Eastern Europe, 1940-1979. *Czech Sociological Review*, 4(2), pp. 187 - 210.

Nisbet, M.C., 2004. Navigating Public Opinion: Polls, Policy, and the Future of American Democracy, JSTOR.

North, D.C., 1990. Institutions, Institutional Change, and Economic Performance, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Nye, J., Zelikow, P. & King, D., 1997. *Why Americans Mistrust Government*, Harvard University Press Cambridge, MA.

Patrick, J.J. & Hoge, J.D., 1991. Teaching Government, Civics, and Law. In J. P Shaver, ed. *Handbook of Research on Social Studies Teaching and Learning*. Macmillan, pp. 427 - 436.

Pong, S., 1998. The School Compositional Effect of Single Parenthood on 10th-grade Achievement. *Sociology of Education*, 71(1), pp. 23 - 42.

Portes, A., 1998. Social Capital: Its Origins and Applications in Modern Sociology. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 24(1), pp. 1 - 24.

Portes, A. & Landolt, P., 1996. The Downside of Social Capital. *The American Prospect*, 26(94), pp. 18 - 21.

Pribesh, S. & Downey, D.B., 1999. Why Are Residential and School Moves Associated with Poor School Performance? *Demography*, 36(4), pp. 521 - 534.

Putnam, R.D., 1995. Bowling Alone: America's Declining Social Capital. *Journal of Democracy*, 6, pp. 65 - 78.

Putnam, R.D., 2000. *Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American Community*, New York: Simon and Schuster.

Putnam, R.D., Leonardi, R. & Nanetti, R.Y., 1993. Making Democracy Work: Civic Traditions in Modern Italy, Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Raiser, M. et al., 2001. Social Capital in Transition: A First Look at the Evidence. *EBRD Working Paper*, 62.

Raiser, M., Rousso, A. & Steves, F., 2004. Measuring Trust in Transition: Preliminary Findings from 26 Transition Economies. In J. Kornai et al., eds. *Creating Social Trust in Post-Socialist Transition Creating Social Trust in Post-Socialist Transition Creating Social Trust in Post-Socialist Transition Creating Social Trust in Post-Socialist Transition*. Palgrave Macmillan: New York, pp. 55 - 70.

Research, C. for E. & Innovation, 2004. *Learning for Tomorrow's World. First Results from PISA 2003*, Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development.

Róbert, P., 1991. Educational Transition in Hungary from the Post-War Period to the End of the 1980s. *European Sociological Review*, 7(3), pp. 213 - 236.

Robinson, R.V. & Garnier, M.A., 1985. Class Reproduction Among Men and Women in France: Reproduction Theory on Its Home Ground. *American Journal of Sociology*, 91(2), pp. 250 - 280. Sartori, G., 1991. Comparing and Miscomparing. Journal of Theoretical Politics, 3(3), pp. 243 - 257.

Sartori, G., 1970. Concept Misformation in Comparative Politics. *The American Political Science Review*, 64(4), pp. 1033 - 1053.

Schleicher, A., 1999. *Measuring Student Knowledge and Skills: A New framework for assessment,* Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development.

Schultz, T.W., 1975. The Value of the Ability to Deal with Disequilibria. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 13(3), pp. 827 - 846.

Sik, E. & Wellman, B., 1999. Network Capital in Capitalist, Communist and Post-Communist Societies. In B. Wellman, ed. *Networks in the Global Village: Life in Contemporary Communities.* Boulder: Westview, pp. 225 - 253.

Simkus, A.A., 1981. Historical Changes in Occupational Inheritance Under Socialism: Hungary 1930-1973. *Research in Social Stratification and Mobility*, 1(1), pp. 171 - 203.

Simkus, A. & Andorka, R., 1982. Inequalities in Educational Attainment in Hungary, 1923-1973. *American Sociological Review*, 47(6), pp. 740 - 751.

Simonová, N., 2008. Educational Inequalities and Educational Mobility under Socialism in the Czech Republic. *The Sociological Review*, 56(3), p.pp. 429–453.

Sullivan, A., 2001. Cultural Capital and Educational Attainment. Sociology, 35(04), pp. 893 - 912.

Sun, Y., 1999. The of Community Social Capital on Academic Performance. *Social Science Research*, 28(4), pp. 403 - 426.

Svendsen, G.L.H. & Svendsen, G.T., 2003. On the Wealth of Nations: Bourdieuconomics and Social Capital. *Theory and Society*, 32(5), pp. 607 - 631.

Swidler, A., 1986. Culture in Action: Symbols and Strategies. *American Sociological Review*, 51(2), p.pp. 273–286.

Szelényi, S. & Aschaffenburg, K., 1993. Inequalities in Educational Opportunity in Hungary. In Y. Shavit & H. P. Blossfeld, eds. *Persistent Inequality. Changing Educational Attainment in Thirteen Countries.* Westview Press, 5500 Central Avenue, Boulder, pp. 273 - 302.

Szelényi, S. et al., 1998. Equality by Design: The Grand Experiment in Destratification in Socialist Hungary, Stanford University Press: Standford, CA.

Teachman, J.D., Paasch, K. & Carver, K., 1996. Social Capital and Dropping Out of School Early. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, pp.773 - 783.

Temple, J., 2000. Growth Effects of Education and Social Capital in the OECD Countries. OECD Economic Studies, 33(2), pp. 57 - 101.

Toka, G. & Dronkers, J., 1996. Sibling Resemblance in Educational Attainment, Occupational Prestige, and Wealth in Hungary During the Communist Regime. *European Sociological Review*, 12(3), pp. 251 - 269.

Uphoff, N., 2000. Understanding Social Capital: Learning from the Analysis and Experience of Participation. In P. Dasgupta & I. Serageldin, eds. *Social Capital: A Multifaceted Perspective*. The

World Bank: Washington, DC, pp. 215 - 249.

Uslaner, E.M., 2000. Producing and Consuming Trust. *Political Science Quarterly*, 115(4), pp. 569 - 590.

Uslaner, E.M., 2002. The Moral Foundations of Trust, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Van Eijck, K. & De Graaf, P.M., 1995. The Effects of Family Structure on the Educational Attainment of Siblings in Hungary. *European Sociological Review*, 11(3), pp. 273 - 292.

Van Eijck, K. & de Graaf, P., 1994. Uit één nest? De invloed van primaire socialisatie op onderwijskansen. *Mens en Maatschappij*, 69(3), pp.279 - 302.

Verba, S., Burns, N. & Schlozman, K.L., 1997. Knowing and Caring About Politics: Gender and Political Engagement. *The Journal of Politics*, 59(04), pp. 1051 - 1072.

Verba, S. & Nie, N.H., 1987. Participation in America: Political Democracy and Social Equality, University of Chicago Press: Chicago.

Volker, B. & Flap, H., 1999. Getting Ahead in the GDR: Social Capital and Status Attainment Under Communism. *Acta Sociologica*, 42(1), pp. 17 - 34.

Whiteley, P.F., 1999. The Origins of Social Capital. In J. W. Van Deth, ed. *Social Capital and European Democracy*. Routledge: New York, pp. pp. 23-41.

Woessmann, L., 2002. Schooling and the quality of human capital, Kieler Studien - Kiel Studies.

Wong, R.S.K., 1996. The Social Composition of the Czechoslovak and Hungarian Communist Parties in the 1980s. *Social Forces*, 75(1), pp. 61 - 89.

Woolcock, M., 1998. Social Capital and Economic Development: Toward a Theoretical Synthesis and Policy Framework. *Theory and Society*, 27(2), pp. 151 - 208.

Wooldridge, J.M., 2009. Introductory Econometrics: A Modern Approach, South Western Cengage Learning: Mason.

Wrightsman, L.S., 1992. Assumptions About Human Nature: Implications for Researchers and Practitioners, Sage Publications Inc, Washington D.C.

Yamamoto, Y. & Brinton, M.C., 2010. Cultural Capital in East Asian Educational Systems. *Sociology of Education*, 83(1), pp. 67-83.

Zmerli, S., K. Newton, and J. R. Montero, 2007. "Trust in People, Confidence in Political Institutions, and Satisfaction with Democrazy", in *Citizenship and Involvement in European Democracies: A Comparative Analysis*, ed. by J. van Deth, J. R. Montero, and A. Westholm, pp. 35 – 65. Taylor & Francis.

Appendix A: Summery statistics

Variables	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max
East	0.286	0.452	0	1
South	0.236	0.425	0	1
North	0.201	0.401	0	1
Male	0.490	0.500	0	1
Club participation	1.242	0.631	1	5
Time with friends	3.072	1.118	1	5
Mother's education	3.383	1.393	1	6
Father's education	3.543	1.391	1	6
Cultural possessions	3.572	1.154	1	5
Cultural activities	13.280	1.646	4	16
Native family	0.956	0.206	0	1
Nuclear family	0.813	0.390	0	1
Home educational resources	0.831	0.175	0	1
Educational support mother	0.597	0.491	0	1
Disciplinary climate	4.965	1.415	2	8
Influence parents	0.125	0.331	0	1

Table 3: Summary statistics of variables derived from TIMMS 1995

Source: Timss 1995.

Variables	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max
Mother working full time	0.478	0.500	0	1
Mother working part time	0.226	0.418	0	1
Father working full time	0.815	0.388	0	1
Father working part time	0.069	0.253	0	1
Native family	0.879	0.326	0	1
Mixed family	0.065	0.247	0	1
Nuclear family	0.742	0.438	0	1
Number of siblings	1.754	1.323	0	12
Highest occupational status	48.188	16.121	16	90
Father's education	4.353	1.343	1	6
Mother's education	4.305	1.370	1	6
Financial resources	-0.292	1.125	-5.05	3.38
Home educational resources	-0.119	1.093	-5.93	0.76
Cultural communication	0.043	0.979	-2.2	2.72
Social communication	0.092	0.979	-3.65	1.2
Family educational support	0.001	1.016	-1.49	3.35
Teacher support	-0.004	0.967	-3.03	1.95
Disciplinary climate	-0.034	0.996	-2.92	2.96
Student relations	0.014	0.984	-2.9	2.84
Achievement pressure	-0.011	1.015	-4.35	2.75
Sense of belonging	-0.018	0.957	-3.4	2.33
Cultural activities	0.121	0.993	-1.28	2.93
Cultural possessions	0.076	0.975	-1.65	1.16
Cooperative learning	0.045	0.863	-3.02	2.46
Parents relation	0.540	0.498	0	1
Public school	0.878	0.327	0	1
Parents communication	4.113	0.960	0	5
Native family	0.879	0.326	0	1

Table 4: Summary statistics of variables derived from PISA 2000

Source: PISA 2000.

Appendix B: Detailed description of scaled variables of TIMSS 1995

Plausible values of mathematics

The construction of the TIMSS achievement scores is based primarily on item response theory (IRT) scaling methods. The IRT scaling method was used to produce a score by averaging the responses of each student to the items in the student's test booklet in a manner that takes into account the difficulty and discriminating power of each item. (IEA, p.1-15). Achievement scales were produced for five mathematics content areas (fractions and number sense; measurement; data representation, analysis, and probability; geometry; and algebra), as well as for mathematics overall.

When all countries participating in 1995 at the eighth grade are treated equally, the TIMSS scale average over those countries is 500 and the standard deviation is 100. The average and standard deviation of the scale scores are arbitrary and do not affect scale interpretation.

To allow more accurate estimation of summary statistics for student subpopulations, the TIMSS scaling made use of plausible-value technology, whereby five separate estimates of each student's score were generated on each scale, based on the responses to the items in the student's booklet and the student's background characteristics. The five score estimates are known as "plausible values," and the variability between them encapsulates the uncertainty inherent in the estimation of these scores. (IEA, p.1-15)

Home educational resources

This is a three-level index of home educational resources that is constructed from students' responses to three questions: number of books in the home, educational aids in the home (computer, study desk/table for own use, dictionary), and parents' education. Students were assigned to three different levels according to their answers, 'high', 'medium' and 'low'. Students were assigned to the high level if they reported having more than 100 books, having all three educational aids, and that at least one parent finished university. Students at the low level reported having 25 or fewer books in the home, not all three educational aids, and some secondary or less to be the highest level

of education for either parent. Students with all other response combination were assigned to the middle category (IEA, 1999).

Appendix C: Detailed description of scaled variables of PISA 2000

Pausible values of mathematics

The plausible values in mathematics stand for random values for each randomly selected student from an estimated ability distribution of students with similar item response patterns and back- grounds. The idea behind is that these values adequately represent estimates of parameters of student populations, instead of individual student performance. The Pisa 2000 database provides five plausible values for mathematics. The average of these plausible values is used as dependent variable in paper 1 of this thesis. These plausible values are transformed to a scale with mean of 500 and a standard deviation of 100 (OECD 2000).

The indices of the Pisa 2000 study derived from the student questionnaires

The following overview of the indices gives detailed information on the indices derived from the student and school context questionnaires of the Pisa 2000 study.

The indices summarize responses of students or school representatives to a number of questions. Structural equation modeling is used to confirm the theoretically expected behavior of the indices and to validate their comparability across countries. The indices are scaled using a weighted maximum likelihood estimate, using a one-parameter item response model with three stages. (Estimation of the parameters followed by computation and standardization of the estimates) (OECD, Pisa 2000, p. 29)

Highest occupational status of parents

This variable represents the highest occupation status of either mother or a father, which ever is highest. It is based on the Pisa International Socio-Economic Index of Occupational Status, derived from students" responses on parental occupation.

The index captures the attributes of occupations that convert parents' education into income. The index was derived by the optimal scaling of occupation groups to maximize the indirect effect of education on income through occupation and to minimize the direct effect of education on income, net the occupation (OECD, PISA 2000, p. 30)

Parental education

The classification of the highest education level of father and the mother of each student on the basis of national qualifications, which were then coded in accordance with the International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED 1997). The following categories are then obtained for each of the parents:

- 1. Did not go to school
- 2. Completed ISCED level 1 (primary education)
- 3. Completed ISCED level 2 (lower secondary education)

4. Completed ISCED level 3B or 3C (upper secondary education, direct access to labor market)

5. Completed ISCED level 3A (upper secondary education, access to tertiary education)

6. Completed ISCED level 5A, 5B or 6 (tertiary education)

Index of home educational resources (weighted likelihood estimate index)

This index is derived from students' reports on the availability of the availability of the following: 1) dictionary, 2) a quiet place to study, 3) a desk for study, 4) textbooks and 5) the number of calculators at home.

Index of social communication with parents

This index was derived from students' reports' on how often their parents engaged with them in de following activities: 1) discussing how well they are doing at school, 2) eat a meal with them around the table and 3) spend time simply talking to them.

Index family educational support

This index is derived from student's' reports on how often the following people work with them on their schoolwork: 1) their mother, 2) their father, 3) their brothers and 3) sisters.

Index of teacher's support

This index was derived from the students' reports on how often the following happens at school: 1) a teacher shows an interest in every student's learning; 2) the teacher gives students opportunities to express opinions, 3) the teachers helps students with their work, 4) the teachers continues teaching until the students understand, 5) the teacher does a lot to help students, 6) the teachers helps students with their learning. All of the Pisa indices to be found in the rest of this paragraph are weighted likelihood estimates.

Index of disciplinary climate (Weighted likelihood estimate index)

This index derives from students' reports on the how often the following happens in their class: 1) their teacher has to wait long time for students to calm down, 2) students cannot work well, 3) students don't listen to what the teacher says, 4) students don't start working for a longtime after the lesson begins, 5) there is a noise and disorder, 6) at the start of the class there is more than five minutes spent on doing nothing.

Index of teacher - student relations

This index derives from the students reports on the extent to which they agree with the following statements regarding their relation with their teachers: 1) students get along well with most of their teachers, 2) most teachers are interested in students' well-being, 3) most of the teachers really listen to what they have to say, 4) if they need extra help, they will receive it from their teachers, and 5) most of their teachers treat them fairly.

Index of students' sense of belonging in the school

This index derives from students' report on the extent to which they agree with the following statements regarding their social environment at school: 1) I feel like and outsider, 2) I make friends easily, 3) I feel like I belong, 4) I feel awkward and out of place, 5) other students seem to like me, 6) I feel lonely.

Index of cultural communication with parents

This index derives from students' reports on how often they engage with parents in the following type of activities: 1) discussing political and social issues, 2) discussing books, films or television programs, 3) listening to classical music.

Index of cultural activities

This index derives from activities that relate to classical culture and is based on the students' report on how often they participated in the following activities during the proceeding year: 1) visited a museum or a gallery, 2) attended and opera, ballet or classical symphony concert, 3) watched live theater.

Index of Cultural possessions

This index derives from the students' reports on the amount of possession at home of the object relating to classical culture such as 1) classical literature books, 2) books of poetry and 3) works of art.

Index of family wealth

This index derives from students' reports on the availability of the following things at home: 1) dish- washer/room of their own/educational software/link to internet and 2) number of cellular phones, television sets, computers, motor cars and bathrooms at home.

Index of co-operative learning

This index derives from the students' reports on their agreement with the following statements: 1) I like to work with other students, 2) I learn the most when I work with other students, 3) I like to help other people do well in a group and 4) It is helpful to put together everyone's ideas when working on a project.

Bei Ihren Bestellungen von WZB-Papers schicken Sie, bitte, unbedingt einen an Sie adressierten Aufkleber mit, sowie je Paper eine Briefmarke im Wert von € 0,55 oder einen "Coupon Réponse International" (für Besteller aus dem Ausland).

Bestellschein

 $Pa\beta t \ im \ Fensterum schlag! \bullet Designed \ for \ window \ envelope!$

Absender ● Return Address:

An das Wissenschaftszentrum Berlin für Sozialforschung gGmbH

PRESSE- UND INFORMATIONSREFERAT Reichpietschufer 50

D-10785 Berlin

Hiermit bestelle ich folgende(s)Discussion Paper(s) • *Please send me the following Discussion Paper(s)*

Autor(en) / Kurztitel ● Author(s) / Title(s) in brief	Bestellnummer ● Order no.

Please send a **self-addressed label** and **postage** stamps in the amount of € 0,55 or a "Coupon-Réponse International" (if you are ordering from outside Germany) for **each** WZB-Paper requested.

Order Form